STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

—————
Certiorari to Richland County

Honorable William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge
—————

MICHAEL J. DENNIS,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-000298
—————

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
—————

JOANNA K. DELANY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED

May 20 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the court erred in denying post-conviction relief where counsel failed to investigate the prosecution's witnesses prior to advising Petitioner to plead guilty to the March 2020 incident, where the complainant (who was the only eyewitness) died prior to Petitioner's plea hearing, since counsel's deficient performance resulted in Petitioner's entry of pleas that were not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily entered?

STATEMENT

During the April term of 2021, a Richland County Grand Jury indicted Michael Dennis, Petitioner, for first-degree burglary, kidnapping, and armed robbery; offenses that occurred on March 17, 2020. During the August term of 2021, a Richland County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for attempted murder and a second count of kidnapping; offenses that occurred on November 2, 2020. App. 129 – 138.

On April 5, 2023, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable Daniel Coble for a guilty plea hearing. Megan Eigenbrot represented Petitioner. Kathryn Cavanaugh prosecuted the case. App. 1. Petitioner pleaded guilty to the November 2, 2020, charges. He pleaded guilty pursuant to *North Carolina v. Alford*, 400 U.S. 25 (1970), to the March 17, 2020, charges. The parties had negotiated a twenty-five-year sentence for the November, 2020, offenses. The court accepted the pleas. App. 11, l. 23 – 12, l. 23. Two accompanying counts of first-degree assault and battery were dismissed by nolle prosequi. App. 47, ll. 7-9. Sentencing was deferred. Petitioner was sentenced on or about May 9, 2023. App. 17, ll. 6-8; App. 139 – 148. At that time, he was sentenced to serve concurrent terms of imprisonment of twenty-five years for each offense. App. 139 – 148.

The allegations by the State regarding the March 17, 2020, incident were that Petitioner and a codefendant, who were both armed with handguns, forced their way into a residence on Crofts Avenue in Richland County, where a fifteen-year-old, J.W. (Complainant), was at home with his three-year-old brother. J.W. was known to Petitioner's codefendant from school. The State claimed the defendants demanded to know where J.W.'s older brother's guns were. According to the prosecutor, Petitioner placed J.W. in a headlock and fired his gun into the floor. Some items were stolen, including a PlayStation and a phone. J.W. ran to the neighbor's house

and called 911. J.W. identified Petitioner and his codefendant in a “show-up lineup.” The solicitor stated that on a jail phone call the day after his arrest, Petitioner said he left the gun that was used in the transporting deputy’s car, and the gun was located. App. 7, l. 11 – 8, l. 13. As seen, Petitioner was sentenced to twenty-five-year terms for the first-degree burglary, armed robbery, and kidnapping offenses arising from this incident.

Petitioner sought post-conviction relief (PCR). On April 17, 2024, Petitioner filed an application for PCR. App. 19 – 25. On June 26, 2024, the State made its return and partial motion to dismiss. App. 26 – 41. On or about August 13, 2024, Petitioner filed an amended PCR application. App. 42 – 43. On September 25, 2024, a hearing was held on the matter before the Honorable William A. McKinnon. Chelsey Marto represented Petitioner. D. Russell Barlow, III, represented the State. App. 44. The court heard testimony from Petitioner and from plea counsel.

Plea counsel testified Petitioner had difficulties understanding their discussions, and that she had to repeat herself a lot. She noted Petitioner exhibited “psychosis type behavior” during and after his arrest. She stated she observed that behavior in Petitioner during her representation. Petitioner was evaluated for competency, but he was determined to be competent. She noted medication appeared to help Petitioner, and that she did have some conversations with Petitioner which she believed he understood. App. 70, l. 16 – 72, l. 12.

Plea counsel testified that once Petitioner was arrested on his second set of charges, her “focus was on those charges, not so much the burglary and the prior kidnapping charge.” App. 75, ll. 19-21. “We originally talked about those before he bonded out on the first set of charges.” App. 75, l. 24 – 76, l. 1. Plea counsel testified she did not learn that the victim from the first case, J.W., passed away until after Petitioner’s plea hearing. “The reason that is important is

because the victim is the only eyewitness to the incident. And I don't think the State could have proved the case without that victim. I was notified by his aunt, but it was only after the plea that I found out about that." App. 77, l. 19 – 78, l. 1. "I think that is in part because I, kind of, put those charges on the back burner. Had I known, I would have advised him not to plead to those charges. And I would have told the solicitor those can't be part of any plea deal, as they can't prove it." App. 78, ll. 2-6. Plea counsel stated she learned of J.W.'s death after Petitioner's pleas had been accepted by the court but before the parties reconvened for sentencing. App. 77, l. 19 – 80, l. 21; App. 82, ll. 13-16.

Plea counsel stated she would have advised Petitioner to go to trial had she known of the J.W.'s death prior to Petitioner's plea hearing. She stated she thought J.W. "was basically the entire case for the State," in that he called 911, provided suspect descriptions to law enforcement, and identified Petitioner as one of the suspects. App. 81, ll. 1-21. She stated it was her assessment that Petitioner "would have had a fair chance at trial" given J.W.'s death. App. 80, l. 22 – 81, l. 1. Plea counsel explained that once she was notified of the death by Petitioner's aunt, she searched for and found the obituary online. She stated the death occurred before the plea hearing. She admitted she should have checked "to see if the State still had their witnesses available" before she advised Petitioner to waive his right to trial.¹ App. 82, ll. 8-23.

Petitioner testified that he was willing to plead guilty to the November 2, 2020, charges but "never wanted to plead" to the March 17, 2020, incident described above. App. 51, ll. 19-25. Petitioner asserted plea counsel should have investigated the facts of his first case. Petitioner

¹ Despite learning this prior to sentencing, plea counsel surprisingly did not move to withdraw the plea—she did not make a formal request to withdraw the plea on the record; she only mentioned it to the plea judge in chambers prior to sentencing. App. 80, ll. 14-21. (The sentencing transcript was not before the PCR court. Therefore it is not included in the Appendix. App. 49, ll. 2-8.)

was asked: “*What facts did you not know before the plea?*” and he answered: “I was saying, in my first case, like, *a victim passed away and I didn’t find that out until I talked to my auntie and my little cousin.* His lawyer has told him that one of my victims passed away and I never knew that or whatever.” App. 55, ll. 5-15 (emphasis added). Petitioner stated he did not find that out until he talked to his aunt on the phone while he was at the jail and learned this information, and he then told plea counsel when counsel came to visit him. App. 55, ll. 16-23. Confusingly, however, Petitioner affirmed when asked that this was before his before his plea. App. 55, ll. 23-25. Petitioner was asked whether he learned the information when he was in the Alvin S. Glenn Detention Center (i.e., pretrial) or when he was at the Department of Corrections (i.e., post-sentencing). Petitioner stated he was at Alvin S. Glenn. He was then asked, “So was this before your plea?” and answered, “Yes, ma’am.” App. 55, ll. 16-25. He clearly meant this was before his sentencing. As seen, plea counsel testified this information was learned after the plea but before sentencing. App. 77, l. 19 – 78, l. 1; App. 80, ll. 7-21. Petitioner would still have been at the Detention Center at that point, since he had not yet been sentenced to the Department of Corrections.

On February 7, 2025, the PCR court issued an order of dismissal. App. 90 – 128. The order addressed Petitioner’s claim that counsel was “ineffective for failure to investigate the facts and circumstances regarding his case, specifically, that the victim and only eyewitness in his first set of charges passed away prior to the plea.” App. 112. “This Court finds that Plea Counsel’s failure to investigate the victim’s obituaries to determine if they had passed away prior to a guilty plea is *not reasonable*. Nevertheless, Applicant testified that he knew that the victim passed away *before* he pled, but he did not provide that information to Plea Counsel.” App. 113 (emphasis in original). “Moreover, to whatever extent Applicant was not entirely satisfied with

Plea Counsel's representation or investigations, he was presented with an opportunity to express his dissatisfaction of the plea court, knowingly opted not to do so, and instead chose to avail himself of the benefit of his guilty plea." App. 114.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

The court erred in denying post-conviction relief where counsel failed to investigate the prosecution's witnesses prior to advising Petitioner to plead guilty to the March 2020 incident, where the complainant (who was the only eyewitness) died prior to Petitioner's plea hearing, since counsel's deficient performance resulted in Petitioner's entry of pleas that were not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily entered.

Plea counsel had a duty to independently investigate the case. Had she done so, she would have learned a key witness against Petitioner died, and, as she admitted, she would have advised Petitioner to plead not guilty. A guilty plea must be intelligently entered. Because Petitioner was not advised there was a fair probability he would succeed at trial, his *Alford* pleas were not intelligently tendered.²

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees an accused the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. CONST. amend. VI; *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984). The United States Supreme Court has established a two-pronged test to evaluate allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. A petitioner must prove “that counsel’s performance was deficient” and fell below reasonable professional norms, and the deficient performance prejudiced the petitioner. *Id.* at 687.

“Criminal defense attorneys have a duty to undertake a reasonable investigation, which at a minimum includes interviewing potential witnesses and making an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case.” *Edwards v. State*, 392 S.C. 449, 456, 710 S.E.2d 60, 64 (2011) (citing *Ard v. Catoe*, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596-97 (2007)). “[C]ounsel

² As seen, Petitioner testified he always wanted a trial on these offenses, which stemmed from an incident that occurred on March 17, 2020. The argument contained in this petition applies to those offenses: indictment nos. 2021-GS-40-00317 – 00319.

has a duty to make reasonable investigations or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary.” *Walker v. State*, 407 S.C. 400, 405, 756 S.E.2d 144, 147 (2014) (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 691). “So long as a defendant’s attorney conducts a reasonable investigation, including interviewing potential witnesses when it is reasonable to do so, his performance will not be deficient.” *Edwards*, 392 S.C. at 457, 710 S.E.2d at 65. “[I]nquiry into counsel’s conversations with the defendant may be critical to a proper assessment of counsel’s investigation decisions . . .” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 691. “Counsel’s actions are usually based, quite properly, on informed strategic choices made by the defendant and on information supplied by the defendant. In particular, what investigation decisions are reasonable depends critically on such information.” *Id.*

“To show prejudice, the applicant “must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. The decision to plead guilty must be a voluntary and intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to the defendant. *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 56 (1985). “A defendant who enters a plea on the advice of counsel may only attack the voluntary and intelligent character of a plea by showing that counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, the defendant would not have pled guilty, but would have insisted on going to trial.” *Rolen v. State*, 384 S.C. 409, 413, 683 S.E.2d 471, 474 (2009) (citing *Hill v. Lockhart*, *supra*). “The crux of the inquiry is whether counsel’s ineffective performance affected the outcome of the plea process, not whether the defendant would have been successful had he gone to trial.” *Frierson v. State*, 423 S.C. 257, 262, 815 S.E.2d 433, 436 (2018). “[W]here the alleged error of counsel is a failure to investigate or discover potentially exculpatory evidence, the

determination whether the error ‘prejudiced’ the defendant by causing him to plead guilty rather than go to trial will depend on the likelihood that discovery of the evidence would have led counsel to change his recommendation as to the plea. This assessment, in turn, will depend in large part on a prediction whether the evidence likely would have changed the outcome of a trial.” *Stalk v. State*, 383 S.C. 559, 562, 681 S.E.2d 592, 594 (2009).

Plea counsel’s performance was deficient—she admitted she did not independently investigate the witnesses in this case, and her failure was not strategic. Instead, she stated she simply put these charges on the “back burner” and focused on Petitioner’s other case. Counsel’s failure to take the charges off the metaphorical “back burner” before advising Petitioner to waive his right to trial on them was deficient under prevailing professional norms. *E.g., Edwards v. State*, 392 S.C. at 456, 710 S.E.2d at 64 (criminal defense attorneys have a duty to undertake a reasonable investigation, which at a minimum includes interviewing potential witnesses and making an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case). The PCR court recognized this, concluding in its order of dismissal that “Plea Counsel’s failure to investigate the victim’s obituaries to determine if they had passed away prior to a guilty plea is *not reasonable*.” App. 113 (emphasis in original).