RECEIVED

Sep 18 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Common Pleas
Appeal from Richland County
Daniel Coble, Plea Judge
William A. McKinnon, Post-Conviction Relief Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000298

MICHAEL J. DENNIS, SCDC # 371678,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

D. RUSSELL BARLOW, II
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON
Special Assistant Attorney General

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

ARGUMENT

The post-conviction relief court properly found that Petitioner failed to meet his burden of establishing that he would not have pled guilty but for counsel's failure to discover that a victim from Petitioner's first violent crime spree had passed away prior to his plea because Petitioner testified he knew of the victim's death prior to his plea proceeding and Petitioner accepted an extremely advantageous global plea offer to resolve all of his pending charges stemming from two violent incidents, including shooting multiple firearms directly at a law enforcement officer in a marked patrol vehicle.

On appeal, Petitioner argues the post-conviction relief court wrongly denied relief based on counsel's failure to properly investigate his case, thereby rendering his guilty pleas involuntary.⁸ Specifically, Petitioner asserts that counsel failed to sufficiently investigate his case and discover that the fifteen-year-old minor victim from the March 2020 incident had passed away prior to entry of his guilty plea and that if had counsel known this information prior to the plea hearing, she would have advised Petitioner not to plead guilty to these charges. However, this claim fails as Petitioner's own testimony unequivocally establishes that he knew of this information **prior** to his plea hearing and still elected to proceed forward with the very favorable global plea offer to resolve all pending indictments. Moreover, the record also establishes that Petitioner's decision to enter into a global plea agreement was induced by his own desire to avoid a harsher sentence or federal charges. Accordingly, the post-conviction relief court properly found that Petitioner failed to establish he would not have pled guilty but for counsel's failure to discover this information prior to his guilty plea and accordingly could not establish the requisite prejudice necessary for a grant of post-conviction relief. This Court should deny certiorari.

⁸As discussed *infra* in footnote 2, Petitioner's attempts to limit relief to a portion of the global plea agreement (arguably, the less serious charges by comparison), should be rejected by this Court. The State clearly contemplated resolution of all charges when extending the global plea offer and Petitioner should not be able to attack only a portion of that plea agreement now.

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution guarantee Petitioner, like all other defendants, the right to effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Taylor v. State, 404 S.C. 350, 359, 745 S.E.2d 97, 101 (2013). Petitioner has the burden of proving the allegations in his PCR action, and when alleging counsel was constitutionally ineffective, he must prove that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that it cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686. In evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, the reviewing court applies the two-pronged test outlined in Strickland. First, Petitioner must prove counsel’s performance was deficient. Id.; Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Under this prong, the court measures an attorney’s performance by its “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). “Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). Petitioner must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry, 300 S.C. at 118, 386 S.E.2d at 625. Second, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced Petitioner such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Id. The standards do not establish mechanical rules; the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. A court need not first determine whether counsel’s performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies. If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the

ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed. Strickland, 466 U.S. 668.

Because the Sixth Amendment right to counsel also applies to a defendant entering a guilty plea, Hill v. Lockhart extended the two-part Strickland test to challenge guilty pleas based on ineffective assistance of counsel.” Hill, 474 U.S. 52; *cf.* Padilla, 559 U.S. at 373 (recognizing the guilty plea process is a “critical phase of litigation” for purposes of the Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel). When reviewing a guilty plea, the analysis of counsel’s performance under the first prong of Strickland remains unchanged—the applicant must show counsel’s representation fell below the objective standard of reasonableness demanded of attorneys in criminal cases. Hill, 474 U.S. at 58–59. The second, or “prejudice” prong, however, “focuses on whether counsel’s constitutionally ineffective performance affected the outcome of the plea process.” Id. at 58–59. Specifically, when an applicant claims counsel’s deficient performance caused him to accept a plea, the applicant “must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for [plea] counsel’s [alleged] errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial.” Id. at 59. This inquiry “focuses on a defendant’s decisionmaking” and does not turn on the outcome of a defendant’s actual criminal proceeding or potential outcome had a defendant chosen to proceed to trial. Lee v. United States, 582 U.S. 357, 366 (2017). However, an applicant must convince the court that a decision to reject the plea bargain would have been rational under the circumstances. Padilla, 559 U.S. at 372.

Surmounting Strickland’s high bar is never an easy task, and the strong societal interest in finality has “special force with respect to convictions based on guilty pleas.” Lee, 582 U.S. at 367, (internal citations and quotation marks omitted); *cf.* Hill, 474 U.S. at 58 (“[R]equiring a ‘prejudice’ showing from defendants who seek to challenge the validity of their guilty pleas on the ground of ineffective assistance of counsel ‘will serve the fundamental interest in the finality of guilty

pleas.”). Reviewing “[c]ourts should not upset a plea solely because of post hoc assertions from a defendant about how he would have pleaded but for his attorney’s deficiencies.” Lee, 582 U.S. at 367. Rather, judges should “look to contemporaneous evidence to substantiate a defendant’s expressed preferences.” Id. In determining whether a guilty plea was taken in accordance with constitutional standards, the reviewing judge must analyze and consider the entire record, including the transcript of the plea and the evidence presented at the PCR hearing. Harres, 282 S.C. at 134, 318 S.E.2d at 361.

An applicant who enters a plea on the advice of counsel may “only attack voluntary, knowing and intelligent character of the plea by showing that plea counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, the [Applicant] would not have pled guilty, but would have insisted on going to trial.” Roscoe v. State, 345 S.C. 16, 20, 546 S.E.2d 417, 419 (2001). As with all post-conviction relief actions, it is the applicant who bears the burden of proving the allegations by a preponderance of the evidence—a mere allegation of involuntariness of a plea or ineffectiveness of counsel is not sufficient to warrant granting relief. Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC; Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). Here, Petitioner did not and could not meet his burden of proof and, accordingly, the post-conviction relief court properly rejected this claim and denied relief.

Initially, Petitioner’s claim fails because the record firmly establishes that Petitioner was personally aware of the death of the fifteen-year-old minor victim prior to his plea. Petitioner clearly and unequivocally testified he knew of the death **prior** to his plea proceeding. See App. 55, lines 24-25 (Petitioner plainly states he knew that the minor victim died before his plea). Because Petitioner knew of this very information prior to his plea, his claim that he would not have pled but for counsel’s failure to discover and inform him of it logically must fail. The post-

conviction relief judge, who heard this testimony firsthand, agreed and denied relief, finding Petitioner “testified that he knew that the victim passed away *before* he pled, but that he did not provide that information to Plea Counsel.” (App. 113) (emphasis in original). Despite the unambiguous nature of Petitioner’s testimony, Petitioner now attempts to sow confusion by asserting that “[Petitioner] clearly meant this was before his sentencing” rather than the plea. PWC p. 5. This Court should reject this post-hoc attempt to re-write the record after the post-conviction relief court properly found his claim lacked logical or evidentiary support.

Moreover, Petitioner failed to establish that he would not have pled guilty but for counsel’s failure to investigate and discover the death of the fifteen-year-old minor victim, as no credible evidence supports that Petitioner would have rather proceeded to trial on his charges rather than accept the State’s extremely advantageous plea offer to globally resolve all this pending charges from two violent incidents where he discharged firearms (including shooting two weapons at a law enforcement officer while out on bond from an earlier incident where he shot towards children). The global plea offer extended by the State and accepted by Petitioner significantly reduced his sentencing exposure to a determinate sentence of twenty-five years of incarceration for the more egregious charges, and a high likelihood he would receive concurrent sentences for the remaining charges from the first incident. The generous plea offer also dismissed two first-degree assault and battery indictments and effectively ended the federal government’s pursuit of additional federal charges. Had Petitioner rejected this global plea offer, he was facing a possible aggregate sentence of life without the possibility of parole plus an additional one-hundred-and-forty years. It is not credible that Petitioner would have forgone this very generous plea offer from the State and would have proceed to trial, including the impending trial on the November 2020 charges for shooting at a law enforcement officer that were set to be tried within weeks of his plea.

Petitioner repeatedly testified his pleas were induced by his desire to avoid a lengthier sentence or additional federal charges. (App. 52, 54). Plea counsel similarly testified that Petitioner’s decision to plead guilty came after she briefed him on her discussions with the federal government and the strong possibility of new federal charges should his pending state charges not be resolved with a sentence reflecting the seriousness of the offenses (including shooting at law enforcement and children). (App. 74). The plea court properly noted that Petitioner elected to “avail himself of the benefit of his guilty plea” and this finding is supported by ample evidence in the record.

Despite this, Petitioner asserts that his plea was not voluntary because there was a “fair probability” that he would have succeeded at trial on the March 2020 charges.⁹ However, this is not the proper standard by which such a claim is evaluated, as the inquiry is whether Petitioner would have proceeded to trial rather than accept the plea. See Frierson v. State, 423 S.C. 257, 262, 815 S.E.2d 433, 436 (2018) (“In order to establish prejudice when challenging a guilty plea, a defendant must prove there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, the defendant would not have pled guilty, but would have gone to trial. The crux of the inquiry is whether counsel’s ineffective performance affected the outcome of the plea process, not whether the defendant would have been successful had he gone to trial.”) (internal citations and quotations omitted). The post-conviction relief court properly denied relief and this Court should deny certiorari.

⁹ Petitioner’s assessment of his success at trial on the March 2020 leaves out a critical fact: there was still an eyewitness to the incident who could have testified against him—his co-defendant Kurtino Weathersbee. Petitioner’s repeated assertion that there were no surviving witnesses to his crime and the State would not have been able to secure a conviction for the March 2020 indictments is inaccurate, as Weathersbee was obviously a witness to the crimes, pled the same day as Petitioner’s sentencing, and presumably could have been willing to testify against Petitioner if needed based on the fact that he pled guilty after Petitioner’s plea.

CONCLUSION

Because the post-conviction relief court properly determined Petitioner failed to establish any constitutional deprivations, this Court should deny certiorari. Should this Court grant certiorari, Respondent requests the opportunity to fully brief the issues raised.